## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM N. TAYLOR, M.D.,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 69,343

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS,

Respondent.

On Review Of A Certified Question Of Great Public Importance From The First District Court of Appeal

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER WILLIAM N. TAYLOR, M.D.

Julian Clarkson Michael L. Rosen HOLLAND & KNIGHT Post Office Drawer 810 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-7000

Attorneys for Petitioner

#

## INTRODUCTION

This case is before the Court for review of a decision certified by the First District Court of Appeal as having passed upon a question of great public importance. Taylor v. Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Medical Examiners, 11 F.L.W. 1825 (Fla. 1st DCA Aug. 18, 1986) [A1-16]. By a 2-1 decision, in which each of the three judges below filed a separate opinion, the district court granted the motion of the Department of Professional Regulation ("DPR") to dismiss an appeal taken by the petitioner here, William N. Taylor, M.D. (hereinafter referred to as "Dr. Taylor"), from an amended Final Order of the Board of Medical Examiners ("the Board"). The certified question was stated by the district court as follows:

Does an administrative agency exercising its quasi-judicial power in a license revocation proceeding have the inherent authority to change or modify its final order within a reasonable time after filing it so that the time for taking an appeal begins to run from the date of filing the amended order?

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220, this brief is accompanied by an Appendix, which includes a copy of the district court's decision and other pertinent portions of the record. References to the Appendix are signified herein as [A \_\_\_]. References to other portions of the record before the district court are signified as [R \_\_\_].

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 2

This case originated with the filing of an Administrative Complaint in June 1983 by the Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Medical Examiners, charging Dr. Taylor with alleged violations of Chapter 458, Florida Statutes, and seeking to take disciplinary action against him [R 1-4]. After Dr. Taylor requested a formal hearing pursuant to section 120.57(1) [R 5] and a DOAH hearing officer was assigned to the case, a "dual venue" administrative hearing was conducted on successive days in two different locations [R 12-601]. On the first day, DPR presented its case at Pensacola [R 12-165] in the absence of Dr. Taylor, who was representing himself without the assistance of counsel. On the following day the hearing moved to Clearwater, where Dr. Taylor presented his defense against the charges [R 166-268].

After the hearings were concluded and proposed recommended orders had been submitted by Dr. Taylor and by DPR<sup>3</sup> [R 602-10; 611-27], the hearing officer on February 4, 1985 entered his Recommended Order [R 628-34], finding that while DPR had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Although the statement of the facts set forth in the district court's majority opinion is accurate and acceptable, a more thoroughly developed description of the proceedings below may facilitate the Court's understanding and resolution of the certified question.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>It is noteworthy that in its proposed recommended order, DPR admitted its failure to prove that Dr. Taylor is unable to practice medicine with reasonable skill and safety [R 626]. In addition, DPR's proposed recommended penalty was that Dr. Taylor's license be suspended for only six months, followed by a period of supervised probation [R 626-27].

established some of the alleged violations, all but one of the acts charged and proven had occurred before Dr. Taylor was licensed to practice medicine in July of 1982. Because the one post-licensure charge involved no violation of the law, but merely the prescribing of a non-controlled substance (trisorlin, which the hearing officer found to be "a suntan enhancer" [R 633; R 38-39]) for himself in October of 1982, the hearing officer concluded that the only actions of Dr. Taylor which could constitute violations of Chapter 458 occurred before the Board obtained disciplinary jurisdiction over him [R 633]. Accordingly, on the authority of Farzad v. Department of Professional Regulation, 443 So.2d 373 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (indicating that the Board lacked disciplinary jurisdiction prior to licensing), and based on the finding that DPR had failed to prove its allegations regarding post-licensure misconduct or unfitness to practice, the hearing officer recommended that the Board take no action against Dr. Taylor and that the administrative complaint be dismissed [R 633-34].

On April 13, 1985, the hearing officer's Recommended Order came before the Board for consideration [R 644-716]. Dr. Taylor was present, again representing himself without counsel [R 646]. DPR's counsel asked the Board to adopt the hearing offi-

<sup>&</sup>quot;Both parties filed exceptions to the Recommended Order. DPR accepted the hearing officer's findings of fact, but disagreed with his legal conclusion that the Board lacked jurisdiction to discipline Dr. Taylor for pre-licensure conduct [R 635-38]. Dr. Taylor took exception to the hearing officer's findings of fact regarding the alleged pre-licensure violations [R 639-43].

cer's findings of fact, which reflected no violations by Dr. Taylor after he became licensed, and admitted: "I don't think the evidence in this case shows that . . . [Dr. Taylor] is unable to practice medicine with skill and safety." [R 655-56.] DPR's counsel nonetheless urged the Board to overturn the hearing officer's conclusions of law and to impose punishment on Dr. Taylor for his pre-licensure conduct [R 656].

After hearing from Dr. Taylor, the Board voted to adopt the hearing officer's findings of fact, but rejected his conclusion based on Farzad that the Board lacked jurisdiction to discipline Dr. Taylor for alleged violations which occurred prior to his licensure [R 692-95]. Although DPR conceded and the hearing officer found there had been no proof that Dr. Taylor is unable to practice safely and with reasonable skill, the Board's discussion of the penalty to be imposed was focused primarily on the question of his present capacity rather than his pre-licensure conduct [R 692, 696-97, 699]. At the conclusion of the hearing the Board voted to suspend Dr. Taylor's license indefinitely, but to stay the suspension pending Dr. Taylor's submission of two psychiatric evaluations prior to the next Board meeting [R 713-15].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Counsel for DPR also argued to the Board that it could impose disciplinary penalties against Dr. Taylor for allegedly falsifying his license application, notwithstanding that Dr. Taylor was never charged with any such offense--a fact specifically noted by the hearing officer in his Recommended Order [R 633]--and that it was raised for the first time in DPR's exceptions to the Recommended Order.

The Board next considered the case at its June 1, 1985 meeting [R 717-49]. The two psychological reports were received, were found to be "all normal," and showed that Dr. Taylor "appears to be healthy, well adjusted and able to practice." [R 723-24.] Nonetheless, at the end of the meeting, the Board on a 6-3 vote decided to impose as a penalty an indefinite suspension which would be stayed, three years' probation with required semi-annual appearances before the Board, a \$1,000 fine, and a waiver of confidentiality [R 743-46].

The Board filed its original Final Order on June 26, 1985 [A 17-18]. Although otherwise consistent with the conclusions and positions adopted by the Board at the end of its June 1 meeting, the Final Order incorrectly stated that Dr. Taylor's license "shall be placed on probation for five years." [A 17.] The record discloses no reason for the insertion of five years rather than three years for the period of probation as approved by the majority vote of the Board, and it can only be assumed that this was a clerical error by the person who prepared the original Final Order.

The certificate of service on the Final Order reflects that a copy was sent by certified mail to Dr. Taylor, who was still not represented by counsel, at an address in Sarasota, Florida [A 18]. For reasons not clear from the record, however, Dr. Taylor (who then resided at an address in Palm Harbor) did not receive the Final Order until July 13, at which time he immediately wrote to the Board's chairman requesting that the period

of probation be corrected from five years to three years. Dr. Taylor, who is not an attorney, advised the Board:

I have received on this day your FINAL ORDER in my case. There is an important error in this FINAL ORDER with regards to the length of probationary period. The period at the hearing was discussed and established to be three (3) years, not five years as in the FINAL ORDER.

Please respond by correcting the Final Order and then filing the corrected FINAL ORDER. I hope to receive this corrected FINAL ORDER and I am requesting to reserve my period of appeal until I receive it.

[A 19 (emphasis in original).] The letter reflects on its face that it was "sent via certified mail on July 15, 1985."

In accordance with Dr. Taylor's request, the Board on August 8 entered an Amended Final Order which corrected the length of the probation period from five years to three years and incorporated all other provisions of its original Final Order, including the notification to Dr. Taylor of his right to appeal "within thirty (30) days of the date this order is filed." [A 20-21.] A copy of the Amended Final Order was furnished to Dr. Taylor, who thereafter obtained counsel and filed a Notice of Administrative Appeal on September 6, 1985, within thirty days after the filing of the Amended Final Order [A 22].

After Dr. Taylor's initial brief was filed in the district court, DPR moved to dismiss the appeal as untimely [A 23-26]. It was undisputed that the Board's original Final Order of June 26 was erroneous; that Dr. Taylor requested correction promptly upon receipt and within the thirty-day period for appeal of that order; and that Dr. Taylor filed his appeal within thirty

days after the Board entered its Amended Final Order of August 8 correcting the original error. Nonetheless, DPR contended that Dr. Taylor was required to file his appeal within thirty days of the original Final Order, because his request for correction of that order was an unauthorized motion which did not suspend "rendition" so as to toll the time for appeal. 6

By order dated December 11, 1985, the district court directed Dr. Taylor to show cause why DPR's motion to dismiss the appeal should not be granted [A 27]. On December 20, Dr. Taylor filed a response arguing that the appeal should not be dismissed because, under the circumstances, his letter requesting the Board to correct the error in its original Final Order should be treated in substance as a timely and authorized motion to alter or amend, which effectively suspended rendition and tolled the time for appeal until thirty days after the filing of the Amended Final Order. Dr. Taylor also argued, inter alia, that dismissal of the appeal would be a deprivation of due process, and that it would be senseless, wasteful, and overly technical to hold that an erroneous or mistaken order could not be corrected by the agency but could only be rectified by taking an appeal. DPR thereafter filed a reply in support of its motion to dismiss.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>DPR also asserted that even if the Board had the power to enter the Amended Final Order, the correction of the probation period from five years to three years was an "immaterial" change because Dr. Taylor, while challenging the jurisdiction of the Board to discipline him for pre-licensure conduct, did not specifically attack the probation period as an independent point on appeal. This argument, which Dr. Taylor maintains is utterly meritless, was not discussed or decided by the district court.

On August 18, 1986, the district court rendered its decision, with a majority of the divided panel ruling that the appeal must be dismissed as untimely on the authority of Systems Management Associates, Inc. v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 391 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). In recognition "that this result is unduly harsh," and based on the sentiments expressed both in a specially concurring opinion and in an extensive dissent, the district court certified the question as one of great public importance. [A 1-16.] Thereafter, Dr. Taylor filed a timely notice invoking the jurisdiction of this Court to review the district court's decision and resolve the certified question.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is not necessary for the Court to give an unqualified affirmative answer to the certified question or to overrule Systems Management in order to afford Dr. Taylor relief from the harsh result reached below, because the issue presented here is narrower than that framed by the district court. The district court's discussion addresses the generalized question of whether an agency has inherent authority to "change or modify" a final order "within a reasonable time after filing." In this case, however, the precise issue is whether an aggrieved party's request for correction of a clerical error or mistake in the agency's final order -- as opposed to a motion to rehear or reconsider the substance of the agency's decision -- should be treated as an "authorized and timely" motion which suspends "rendition" if it is filed within the thirty-day period for taking an appeal.

There is a significant difference between the power to correct clerical errors and the power to make substantive modifications in an order. It is generally recognized that agencies, like courts, have inherent power to correct erroneous orders so as to conform to the record, but cannot reconsider the wisdom of their decisions without specific authority to entertain motions for rehearing or reconsideration. This Court has long recognized and consistently reaffirmed the inherent power of administrative bodies exercising quasi-judicial functions to amend their orders for the purpose of correcting mistakes, provided there was no

prejudice to the parties and the order had not been appealed so as to pass out of the agency's control.

Consistent with that precedent, and with considerations of fundamental fairness and judicial economy, this Court should recognize the inherent power of an agency to correct its own final orders where, as here, (a) the order contains a clerical error or mistake and thus does not reflect the true decision of the agency, (b) the aggrieved party requests correction of the error promptly and within the thirty-day period for appeal, and (c) the agency can enter an amended order correcting the mistake within a short period without prejudice to any party or the public. Under these limited circumstances, the request for correction of the final order (not for rehearing or reconsideration of the decision) should be treated as an "authorized" (by decisional law) and "timely" (before an appeal is filed or the time for appeal has lapsed) motion to amend, which effectively suspends rendition until disposition of the request. Such treatment will benefit the administrative/judicial process and will afford relief from the patently unfair results reached in this case, without causing undue confusion or delay.

#### ARGUMENT

Because An Administrative Agency Exercising Quasi-Judicial Functions Has The Inherent Power to Modify Its Orders For The Purpose Of Correcting An Inadvertent Clerical Error, A Request For Such Correction Made Before Expiration Of The Time For Appealing The Original Erroneous Order Constitutes An Authorized Motion Which Suspends Rendition Until Entry Of the Amended Final Order

Although the district court framed the certified question broadly, encompassing the generalized issue of whether an administrative agency has inherent authority to "change or modify" a final order "within a reasonable time after filing," it is apparent that the precise factual circumstances of this case do not require the Court to reach so far. The real question here, and the only one which this Court need answer, is whether an aggrieved party's request for correction of an inadvertent clerical mistake in an agency's final order, when submitted before the expiration of the thirty-day period for filing an appeal, should be treated as an "authorized and timely motion . . . to alter or amend" which suspends "rendition" until entry of the amended final order. 7 In the context of this case,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.110(b) requires that a notice of appeal to review final orders of administrative agencies must be filed "within 30 days of rendition of the order to be reviewed." Rule 9.020(g) defines "rendition" as follows:

<sup>(</sup>g) Rendition (of an order): the filing of a signed, written order with the clerk of the lower tribunal. Where there has been filed in the lower tribunal an authorized and timely motion for new trial or rehearing, to alter or amend, for judgment in accordance with prior motion for directed verdict,

concepts of fundamental fairness and considerations of judicial economy mandate an affirmative answer to that question.

It is of critical importance to the proper resolution of this case to recognize here, as did Judge Zehmer in his dissenting opinion below, that there is a significant difference "between the power to correct clerical errors and the power to make substantive modification to an order." 11 F.L.W. at 1827. The distinction between requests to modify an administrative order for purposes of correcting a clerical error or mistake, and motions for rehearing or reconsideration seeking to change the agency's decision, has been generally recognized:

Apart from, or without reference to, statutory authority therefor, and subject to some restrictions and limitations, it has been held that an administrative agency may correct or amend its orders . . . .

An order may be corrected to actually conform to the record; and an administrative body may make changes as to clerical errors which do not change the form and substance of a decision or order. So, also, it has been held that mistakes may be corrected . . . .

An application for modification of a decision, however, cannot be made the occasion for a complete review of the case... to determine whether there had been error in the original decision, nor can it be the occasion for a reevaluation of the original evidence. Thus, the power to correct inadvertent ministerial errors may not be used as a guise for changing previous

notwithstanding verdict, in arrest of judgment, or a challenge to the verdict, the order shall not be deemed rendered until disposition thereof.

<sup>(</sup>Emphasis added.)

decisions because the wisdom of those decisions appears doubtful . . . .

73A C.J.S., Public Administrative Law and Procedure § 163 (1983) (emphasis added).

While there is a split of authority on the question of whether administrative agencies have the power to rehear or reconsider their orders in the absence of specific authorization under a statute or rule, there appears to be general agreement that agencies possess inherent power to correct clerical errors and errors arising from mistake or inadvertence. See generally 2 Am. Jur. 2d, Administrative Law § 521 at p. 329, and § 524 at p. 336; Annotation, 73 ALR 2d 939 at 941 n. 3 and 951-52. This limited power of administrative agencies to alter final orders even without express statutory authority has been acknowledged by Florida courts. See Davis v. Combination Awning & Shutter Co., 62 So. 2d 742, 745 (Fla. 1953); Richter v. Florida Power Corp., 366 So. 2d 798, 800 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979).

This Court long ago recognized, and has consistently reaffirmed, the inherent authority of an administrative tribunal exercising quasi-judicial powers to correct its own orders under circumstances even less compelling than those presented here. As the Court observed in <a href="State ex rel">State ex rel</a>. Burr v. Seaboard Air Line Ry. <a href="Co.">Co.</a>, 93 Fla. 104, 111 So. 391, 392 (1927):

The law is also well settled that the railroad commission, like a court, may of its own motion or by request correct or amend any order still under its control without notice and hearing to parties interested, provided such parties cannot suffer by reason of the correction or amendment, or if the matters corrected and amended were embraced in testimony taken at a previous hearing.

See also, e.g., Alterman Transport Lines, Inc. v. Yarborough, 276 So.2d 34, 37 (Fla. 1973); Leonard Bros. Transfer & Storage Co. v. Douglass, 32 So.2d 156, 158 (Fla. 1947); Borden Co. v. Andrews, 162 So.2d 906, 908 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964); Boyd v. Southeastern Telephone Co., 105 So.2d 889, 893-94 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958), cert. discharged, 114 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1959).8

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