IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM N. TAYLOR, M.D.,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 69,343

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL  
REGULATION, BOARD OF  
MEDICAL EXAMINERS,

Respondent.

---

**Answer Brief for Respondent**  
**Department of Professional Regulation**

H. REYNOLDS SAMPSON  
WILLIAM FURLOW  
Department of Professional  
Regulation  
130 North Monroe Street  
Tallahassee, Florida 32301  
(904) 488-0062

Attorneys for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Throughout this brief the parties will be referred to by their status before this court, i.e., Petitioner or Dr. Taylor and Respondent, the Department or the Agency.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The Petitioner's statements are essentially correct although in excess of those contained in the District Court's opinion. While Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement the following dates and times are material and may be dispositive in this court.

Final Order of the Board of Medical Examiners rendered on June 26, 1985.

Dr. Taylor's July 13, 1985 (17 days subsequent to rendition of the Final Order).

Amended Final Order of the Board of Medical Examiners rendered August 7, 1985.

Notice of Administrative Appeal dated September 6, 1985. (Filed exactly 30 days from rendition of the Amended Final Order).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

### I

The parties agree this is a case of correcting an inadvertant clerical error. Respondent maintains the issue is one of simple correction, nunc pro tunc, and the time to appeal is not tolled to effect such a correction.

### II

Systems Management Associates, Inc. v. State Dept. of Health & Rebbab. Services is still good law and should be reaffirmed. The First District's opinion dealt with the issue of timeliness and finality which are absolutes whether a non-lawyer is representing himself or is simply proceeding with some legal advice.

### III

To engraft exceptions to established law because a litigant proceeds without counsel would raise a multitude of additional problems. State agencies face thee issues daily and any positive statements, either way, by the Judicial Branch are gratefully received.

POINT ON APPEAL  
(REINSTATED)

BECAUSE AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY HAS THE  
THE INHERENT POWER TO MODIFY ITS ORDERS  
FOR THE PURPOSE OF CORRECTING AN INADVERTENT  
CLERICAL ERROR, A REQUEST FOR SUCH CORRECTION  
MADE BEFORE EXPIRATION OF THE TIME FOR  
APPEALING THE ORIGINAL ORDER EVEN IF AUTHORIZED  
DOES NOT SUSPEND RENDITION UNTIL ENTRY OF THE  
AMENDED FINAL ORDER.

ARGUMENT

Respondent has entitled this as a POINT ON APPEAL in that it is not the question certified from the District Court below. Respondent, however, agrees with the Petitioner that this is the issue which was before the District Court of Appeal. Concisely stated the facts are, that a doctor, representing himself, received a Final Order dated (and rendered) June 26, 1985, in which he discovered an inadvertent clerical error. Seventeen days later he wrote (rather than telephoned) the Board offices asking that the correct number be inserted so that the order would reflect the agreed disposition of his probationary period. On August 7th the Board corrected its clerical mistake by issuing an Amended Final Order changing five years to three years as the agreed period of probation. Petitioner's "Point On Appeal" is based upon this set of factual circumstances.

It is difficult to sort out from Petitioner's argument which cases support the clerical error issue from those which deal with an agency's implied authority to rehear or clarify its orders.

More importantly however, the real issue in either version must be whether or not the agency's action tolls rendition so as to enlarge the time for filing an appeal. To develop a consistent evaluation of the various cases cited it's important to keep in mind the following distinctions. To amend, alter, modify, or change an order means substantive revision and was the basis for the question certified here. On the other hand, to correct means in essence, nunc pro tunc; translated it means, now for then. It is a phrase applied to acts allowed to be done after the time when they should be done, with a retroactive effect, i.e., with the same effect as if regularly done. Black's Law Dictionary, revised fourth edition, West Publishing Company.

A situation somewhat similar to the case at bar is reflected in the Supreme Court's decision in Bartlett & Sons Co. vs. Pan-American Studios, Inc., 198 So. 195, 144 Fla. 531 (Fla. 1940). In that case a final decree was erroneously dated January 14, 1938 rather than January 14, 1939 and appeals in chancery had to be filed within six months from the entry of the decree. In September the prospective appellant filed several motions with the court below. They were subsequently denied but an order did correct the date of the final decree from 1938 to 1939. The orders themselves were dated October 2nd. The Supreme Court was without jurisdiction to consider or pass on the assignments of error because the appeal was taken more than six months after the entry of the decree appealed from. It was held that the fact that one of them corrected, nunc pro tunc, the date of entry of the final decree did not render the original order null and void

ab initio. By definition of nunc pro tunc revisions, the correction related back to the January 14th entry date making the appeal untimely.

The digests are replete with cases involving nunc pro tunc corrections. In Boggs v. Wainwright, 223 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1969) the defendant was convicted of forgery and sentenced to two years in prison. Thereafter he was convicted of auto larceny for which a sentence of eight months was imposed. The sentence provided confinement "for a period of eight (8) months, from the date of your delivery thereto". Based on that emphasized language the defendant contended that the sentences were to run concurrently. However, the sentencing judge entered an order nunc pro tunc, correcting the clerical error so as to strike the part that read "from the date of your delivery thereto." In his order the judge stated that he did not use the stricken language in sentencing the defendant but that it was mistakenly added by the clerk. Rather than running concurrently his sentences were governed by statute requiring that where there is no direction the sentences would be served consecutively. The court's action was within the definition previously set out from Black's Law Dictionary to the effect that such correction relate back and are held to take effect as of the date of judgment.

Respondent agrees fully that administrative agencies in the exercise of their quasi-judicial power have the right to correct CLERICAL ERRORS in previously entered orders. Our disagreement arises when Petitioner further claims that such corrections are similar to those which or AMEND a previously entered order.



In Marks v. Wertakala, 475 So.2d 273 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court which had granted a motion to "correct and amend" a two year old judgment to add 2 additional names as judgment debtors. The motion alleged that in typing of the final judgment, the names were inadvertently omitted. The reversal was based on a construction of the two subdivisions of Rule 1.540, Fla. R. Civ. P. Subsection (1) dealing with clerical mistakes includes only errors or mistakes arising from an accidental slip or omission and not errors or mistakes in the substance of what is decided by the judgment or order. If the actual names had been stated on the record relief would be available at any time under Rule 1.540(a) but when they may have agreed but failed to so state in open court relief is available through Rule 1.540(b) only.

There are three primary types of judicial errors. Rule 1.540(a) deals with these clerical mistakes. Rule 1.540(b) corrects an error where the judge fails to order that which he meant to order. Finally, the court may intentionally order something which, is legally erroneous. These are simply mistakes of law and are properly corrected on direct appeal. See Keller v. Belcher, 256 So.2d 561 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971).

Some of the more obvious questions in hindsight review of the proceedings below would be, what would happen if the Board simply did not correct its clerical mistake? Would mandamus lie? How would counsel advise this doctor some 43 days later if, on August 8th, there was no Amended Final Order to appeal from? The brief indicates, although the record does not reflect, that Dr.

Taylor employed counsel just prior to the expiration of the thirty day period following the Amended Final Order. Presumably however, if the board neglected or failed to correct this error the mistake could be corrected up to the time that the record on appeal was docketed in the Appellate Court and even thereafter with leave of the Appellate Court. See Rule 1.540(a) Fla. R. Civ. P. Where the record reflects that 3 years is the correct probationary period the clerical mistake can always be corrected. A second-bite for tardy legal counsel arose recently with the Department of Professional Regulation in Xerox Corp. v. Florida Dept. of Professional Reg., 489 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). The case was actually a bid protest but the facts were that upon posting of bid results Xerox filed its statutory Notice of Protest indicating that it would file its formal protest within the ten days prescribed in the statute. During the next ten days Xerox engaged in unofficial conversations with several members of the agency but failed or neglected to file the formal protest. Subsequently and inadvertently the agency mailed one of its form letters to Xerox that it was awarding the bid to the low bidder. The agency immediately corrected its oversight but Xerox opportunistically filed another Notice of Protest and its formal written protest shortly thereafter. Naturally they maintained the Department's letter was actual notice on the bid question and the ten day limitation should run from the date of this letter. The fact patterns are similar in that in each case counsel argue they were not retained until after the required time had elapsed. State agencies meet this scenario in a multitude of varying situations.

II

Page 18 of Petitioner's brief indicates the District Court of Appeal did not consider the authorities discussed in the earlier portion of Petitioner's brief. The reason for that of course is that the District Court of Appeal was not dealing with the nunc pro tunc issue being raised in Petitioner's initial brief. The decision below and indeed the question certified from the court below arises out of the vitality, or lack thereof, in Systems Management Associates, Inc. v. State Dept. of Health & Rehab. Services, 391 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

Whether rendition was tolled was, and I guess still is, the ultimate issue. Rule 9.020(g) Fla. R. Civ. P. provides that an order is not deemed rendered until disposition of a authorized and timely motion for new trial or rehearing. The court's attention was directed to Dr. Taylor's letter of July 13th (mailed July 15th) and whether it could be treated as an appropriate motion for new trial or rehearing thereby tolling the jurisdictional appeal time. Even though the letter/motion was not filed within the ten days required (if the rule somehow applied) by the rule the court appears to feel that their inability to treat the letter as a motion for rehearing brings about an unduly harsh result because Dr. Taylor did not have legal counsel. In any event, they certified the question as one of great public importance to determine if there is an inherent authority in an agency to change, alter, modify or otherwise

(substantively) revise a previously issued final order.

Presumably if the agency had adopted a rule Dr. Taylor's letter would be treated as a motion for rehearing which would toll the running of the appeal time. Presupposing that the agency's rule would be similar to the Rule of Civil Procedure, we have already pointed out that Dr. Taylor's letter would not have been filed within the time limitation. Again, presumably, if it was only inherent there would be no time limitation. Without a limitation on time Dr. Taylor's letter could possibly be considered as a motion for new trial or rehearing. As it is argued by Petitioner and Respondent however, Dr. Taylor's letter realistically asks only to correct an inadvertent clerical error.

That point was the issue in the Systems Management opinion where they were urged to find that because of deleted language the Administrative Model Rules in effect authorized motions for rehearing of administrative orders. The court reasoned as follows:

The omission does not created a rule authorizing a petition for rehearing. Even if we construed the omission as authorizing such a motion, we would then be confronted with the problem of timeliness. How long would a litigant have to file a petition for rehearing to an administrative order? If we adopted this view, every administrative order would remain open for an indeterminate period for the filing of a petition for rehearing. There would be no finality to any administrative order to which a petition for rehearing was not filed, or, at best, there would be an open question of timeliness of the filing

of such a motion under many varying circumstances. The appellate court's jurisdiction should not hinge upon such uncertainty. (391 So.2d 690)

It seems abundantly clear the the facts of this case do not lead to a conclusion that Dr. Taylor or the Board of Medical Examiners treated his letter as a request for rehearing or any other substantive change to the previously issued Final Order. But in the case of Garcia v. Department of Professional Regulation, 443 So.2d 278 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) the Board and that doctor both recognized an intermediate motion as a request for reconsideration. In that case the doctor's Notice of Appeal was filed subsequent to the denial, after hearing, of his request for reconsideration and the court held that it did not have jurisdiction since the Notice of Appeal was not filed within the thirty day period. There was no authorization for the proceeding, even though it was actually held, to toll the thirty day appeal period. The Garcia decision may seem harsh and it probably had the appropriate facts to certify this same question to the Supreme Court but those simply are not the underlying facts in this case.

Petitioner then cites the case of Reedy Creek Utilities v. Fla. Public Serv., 418 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1982) for the proposition that an agency has the inherent power to modify an erroneous order. That case, however, did not deal with the jurisdiction of an appellate court but was involved with the agency's ability to correct an obvious error in its order. While the appellate opinion does not use the nunc pro tunc verbiage they did find that from a review of the record it was obvious that an error had

been committed to the prejudice of the public. Addressing the doctrine of administrative finality they agreed that the commission had the inherent power to modify its orders. In Dr. Taylor's case the error was simply a clerical one of inserting the wrong number; similar to 1938 instead of 1939. In the Reedy Creek case the error was not so obvious except that it could be computed subsequently by utilizing the procedures agreed upon in open court. Further, where the Appellant complied with commission rules permitting reconsideration of orders there was no question of jurisdiction of the Appellant Court.

### III


Finally, it's necessary to address the question of harshness. It's often difficult to defend procedural legality in the face of presumed morality. I suppose the question reoccurs frequently whether it is appropriate to engraft exceptions for litigants representing themselves without benefit of trained legal counsel. Agencies face it every day and, as here, it frequently arises in the judicial branch. It is not a legal issue as such, but one must wonder if a lawyer read one or two medical books and proceeded to diagnose and treat himself would his physician subsequently feel liable for the deteriorating physical condition of the lawyer? Is it necessary for legal treatises to contain the exculpatory warning that use of these books by the untrained could be detrimental to their wellbeing? Additionally, if the court considers different rules for a litigant, pro se, equal consideration must be given to the advantage to allowing a client to proceed independently to the

point where is unable to obtain a desired result despite a shadow lawyers counsel; another situation faced frequently by the states agencies.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the apparent and agreed facts of this case the Petition for Review should be dismissed. On the other hand, and based on the facts and circumstances from which the certified question developed and from the authorities and the arguments contained herein the decision in Systems Management Associates, Inc. v. Department of Health and Rehab. Services, 391 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) should be reaffirmed and the petition for review denied.